Self-Renewal of Naïve State Mouse Embryonic Stem Cells: Role of LacdiNAc in LIF/STAT3 Signaling

4

Shoko Nishihara

Contents

Abstract	41
Introduction	42
LIF/STAT3 Signaling Contributes to Self-Renewal of Mouse Embryonic Stem Cells	43
LacdiNAc Structures Are Expressed on Mouse Embryonic Stem Cells But Not on Human Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells or Mouse Epistem-Like Cells	45
LIFR and gp130 Localize on Lipid Rafts/Caveolae and Transmit the LIF/STAT3 Signal	46
LIFR and gp130 with LacdiNAc Structures Are Localized on Lipid Rafts/Caveolae	46
LacdiNAc Structure Is Essential for Self-Renewal in Naïve State Pluripotent Stem Cells (Mouse Embryonic Stem Cells) Through LIF/STAT3 Signaling	47
Reduced Expression of LacdiNAc Structures in Primed State Pluripotent Stem Cells (Mouse Epistem-Like Cells and Human Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells) Causes the Inert State of the LIF/STAT Signal	47
LacdiNAc Structures Are Required for the Induction of Naïve State Pluripotent Stem Cells (Mouse Embryonic Stem Cells)	48
References	48

S. Nishihara (⊠) Laboratory of Cell Biology, Department of Bioinformatics, Faculty of Engineering, Soka University, 1-236 Tangi-cho, Hachioji, Tokyo 192-8577, Japan e-mail: shoko@soka.ac.jp

Abstract

Recent studies have indicated that mouse and human ES/iPS cells are at different developmental stages, namely the naïve state and the primed state, respectively. They therefore require different extrinsic signals for the maintenance of self-renewal and pluripotency. LIF/STAT3 signaling is one of the important factors that distinguishes the naïve and primed states. In general, signals from extrinsic factors are regulated by the glycosylation of molecules on the cell surface and the extracellular matrix, such as ligand receptor molecules. LacdiNAc carbohydrate structures on LIFR and gp130 are required for a sufficiently strong LIFR/STAT3 signal to maintain selfrenewal in naïve state cells; these structures act by controlling the localization of the receptors to cell membrane rafts/caveolae. Therefore, an important factor in the differential response of naïve and primed state pluripotent cells to LIF is the level of LacdiNAc structures on LIFR and gp130, and expression of LacdiNAc is required for the induction and maintenance of naïve state pluripotent stem cells. The characterization and functional analyses of cell surface glycans on stem cells will provide further information of value for defining and characterizing stage-specific pluripotent stem cells, and this information will be vital to the development of these cells as a resource for regenerative medicine.

Introduction

It is now known that very large numbers of cell surface proteins are glycosylated (Kaji et al. 2006); indeed, more than 50% of secreted proteins and cell surface proteins are considered to be glycoproteins. Various types of glycoprotein and glycolipid are present on the cell surface and their patterns of glycosylation (i.e., the glycan structures on the proteins and glycolipids) change dramatically during development (Fig. 4.1). Some of these glycoproteins and glycolipids have been used as markers of embryonic stem cells (ES cells) and induced pluripotent stem cells (iPS cells), for example, stage-specific embryonic antigen-1 (SSEA-1), SSEA-3, SSEA-4, TRA-1-60 antigen and TRA-1-81 antigen (Adewumi et al. 2007). Mouse ES cells express SSEA-1 (also known as Lewis X carbohydrate antigen), Galβ1,4(Fucα1,3)GlcNAc. An anti-SSEA-1 antibody gives positive staining of both ES cells and the inner cell mass (ICM), the origin of mouse ES cells. However, human ES cells do not express SSEA-1. This difference suggests that mouse and human ES cells are at different stages of development. Human ES cells express SSEA-3, TRA-1-60 antigen, and TRA-1-81 antigen (Adewumi et al. 2007). More recently, SSEA-5 has been proposed as a novel carbohydrate marker for human ES cells and iPS cells (Tang et al. 2011).

Glycan structures on the cell surface function to regulate cell-cell interactions, cell-extracellular matrix interactions, and signals from extrinsic factors, such as Wnt, Hedgehog (Hh), bone morphogenetic protein (BMP) and fibroblast growth factor (FGF). Analysis of a *Drosophila* model system showed that heparan sulfate (HS), a glycan structure, has a key role in the regulation of these basic developmental signals; these extrinsic factors are also known to act as morphogens during various stages of development (Nishihara 2010). Specific sulfated regions of HS can bind to these extrinsic factors and work as co-receptors or can stabilize the factors. In mouse ES cells, selfrenewal and pluripotency are maintained by a



Fig. 4.1 The glycan structures on the cell surface change during differentiation. SSEA-1 is used as a marker of mouse ES cells, while SSEA-3, SSEA-4, TRA-1-60, TRA-1-81, GCTM2 and GCT343 are used as markers for human

ES/iPS cells. Polysialic acid is expressed on neural cells, while O1 and O4 are expressed on glial cells. The ABO blood group antigen is expressed on erythrocytes, while CD65, CD56, CD15 and CD15s are expressed on lymphocytes



Fig. 4.2 The roles of glycan structures on mouse ES cells. LacdiNAc and heparan sulfate contribute to the self-renewal and pluripotency of mouse ES cells through LIF/STAT3 signaling, and Wnt/ β -catenin and BMP/Smad signaling, respectively. Heparan sulfate also contributes

balance of several signaling pathways, such as Wnt, BMP, and FGF, and disruption of this balance induces differentiation of ES cells into a specific lineage. HS also contributes to the regulation of these signals and works in the maintenance and differentiation of mouse ES cells (Fig. 4.2) (Kraushaar et al. 2010; Lanner et al. 2010; Sasaki et al. 2008, 2009). However, the physiological functions of the other glycans in ES cells and iPS cells are still largely unknown. Recently, we identified a novel glycan function in naïve state mouse ES cells and primed state embryonic stem cells after an RNAi screen of more than 100 glycosyltransferases (Sasaki et al. 2011). This chapter focuses on the functions of this glycan structure, LacdiNAc, in LIF/STAT3 signaling and in selfrenewal of naïve state ES cells.

LIF/STAT3 Signaling Contributes to Self-Renewal of Mouse Embryonic Stem Cells

LIF is essential for self-renewal and pluripotency of mouse ES cells, but does not have this function in human ES and iPS cells (Boeuf et al. 1997;

to the differentiation and growth of mouse ES cells through FGF4/ERK and bFGF/ERK signaling pathways, respectively. Heparan sulfate works as the co-receptor or the stabilizer for the extrinsic factors

Daheron et al. 2004; Hirai et al. 2011; Niwa et al. 2009). Therefore, LIF-responsiveness is considered to be one of the key distinguishing features of mouse and human ES cells (Fig. 4.3a).

LIF is a member of the Interleukin 6 (IL6) cytokine family and its signaling pathway is well characterized. In mouse ES cells, the binding of LIF to the LIF receptor (LIFR) induces three signaling pathways, namely, Jak/STAT3, PI3K/Akt, and SHP2/MAPK (Hirai et al. 2011; Niwa et al. 2009) (Fig. 4.2). Nanog, Sox2, and Oct3/4, which are core transcriptional factors for the maintenance of self-renewal and pluripotency, regulate each other to form the core transcriptional factors network and then collaborate to regulate downstream gene expression. LIF signaling induces the expression of these core transcriptional factors through the Jak/STAT3 and PI3K/Akt pathways to maintain this network. Thus, in mouse ES cells, LIF signaling contributes to the maintenance of self-renewal and pluripotency by inducing core transcriptional factors.

In addition to LIF, several extrinsic signaling pathways involved in self-renewal and pluripotency have been identified in mouse ES cells. Wnt/ β -catenin signaling regulates the expression



Fig. 4.3 High levels of LacdiNAc structures on LIFR and gp130 are required for maintenance of the naïve state in pluripotent stem cells. (a) Mouse ES cells are at a different developmental stage from human ES/iPS cells: mouse ES cells correspond to the inner cell mass (naïve state), while hES/iPS cells correspond to the epiblast (primed state). This difference is characterized by their respective levels of responsiveness to LIF. (b) Expression of LacdiNAc structures on LIFR and gp130 is required for the induction and maintenance of naïve state pluripotent stem cells. In naïve state mouse

ES cells, the LacdiNAc structures on LIFR and gp130 contribute to the association with the caveolin-1 complex components of caveolae/rafts; this association stabilizes LIFR and gp130 localization to the rafts. This localization is necessary to induce a sufficiently strong transduction of LIF/STAT3 signaling to maintain self-renewal. In primed state pluripotent stem cells, such as mouse mEpiS cell-like cells and hiPS/ES cells, the receptors do not have LacdiNAc and cannot localize to the rafts. As a result, the cells cannot induce LIF/STAT3 signaling to maintain self-renewal

of Oct3/4 and Nanog and of their core network (Sasaki et al. 2008; Sato et al. 2004; Wray and Hartmann 2012) (Fig. 4.2). Bone morphogenic protein 4 (BMP4)/Smad signaling contributes to the maintenance of self-renewal and pluripotency in cooperation with LIF (Ying et al. 2003).

By contrast, in human ES/iPS cells, BMP4 signaling induces differentiation (Xu et al. 2002), and FGF2 and activin/nodal signaling are involved in the maintenance of self-renewal and pluripotency (James et al. 2005). However, the role of Wnt/ β -catenin signaling in the maintenance

of self-renewal and pluripotency in human ES cells remains uncertain, although activation of Wnt/ β -catenin signaling is known to inhibit their differentiation (Sato et al. 2004; Wray and Hartmann 2012). The outcome of Wnt/ β -catenin signaling might depend on other signaling factors such as FGF2 (Wray and Hartmann 2012). Thus, there is clear evidence that mouse and human ES/iPS cells maintain their pluripotency using different signaling factors.

As stated above, mouse and human ES/iPS cells are considered to be at different developmental stages (Fig. 4.3a) and, therefore, to require different extrinsic signals to maintain selfrenewal and pluripotency. Pluripotent stem cells at different stages of development have been identified in the mouse, namely, epiblast stem cells (EpiS cells) and FGF/activin/BIO-stem cells (FAB-S cells) (Brons et al. 2007; Chou et al. 2008) (Fig. 4.3a). EpiS cells are derived from the post-implantation epiblast and have similar features to human ES cells. Both cell types are maintained by the same extrinsic signals, that is, activin/nodal and FGF2 signaling. Mouse EpiS cells are at a more developmentally advanced stage than mouse ES cells and can be induced to revert to mouse ES cell-like cells (Bao et al. 2009; Yang et al. 2010; Zhou et al. 2010). FAB-S cells are generated from the pre-implantation epiblast under defined culture conditions, including the presence of FGF2 and activin, and they can be induced to revert to the mouse ES cell-like state. The relative developmental stage of FAB-S cells is uncertain but they are thought to be at a developmentally more advanced stage than mouse ES cells. On the basis of the data obtained from several studies using various mouse stem cells derived from different developmental stages, human ES cells are believed to be at a later developmental stage that corresponds to the mouse post-implantation epiblast, which is now designated as the "primed state" (Fig. 4.3a). In contrast, mouse ES cells are derived from the ICM and their developmental stage is described as the "naïve state". The specific culture conditions that are required to maintain mouse ES cells have recently been shown to induce human ES cells in the primed state to revert to a naïve state corresponding to that of mouse ES cell-like cells. These naïve human ES cells can then be maintained under culture conditions containing LIF (Hanna et al. 2010; Xu et al. 2010). The findings from these studies provide support for the contention that mouse and human ES/iPS cells are at different stages of development. The difference in developmental stages of mouse and human ES/iPS cells is also reflected in their different responses to extrinsic signals. For example, LIF signaling contributes to the maintenance of selfrenewal in mouse ES cells but not in human ES cells (Boeuf et al. 1997; Daheron et al. 2004; Hirai et al. 2011; Niwa et al. 2009). Therefore, LIF responsiveness is an important key factor that distinguishes the naïve and primed states of pluripotent stem cells (Fig. 4.3a).

LacdiNAc Structures Are Expressed on Mouse Embryonic Stem Cells But Not on Human Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells or Mouse Epistem-Like Cells

LacdiNAc The carbohydrate structure, GalNAcβ1-4GlcNAc, is a unique terminal structure in the outer chain moieties of N-glycans and O-glycans. It was originally identified on the human glycoprotein hormones leutropin and thyrotropin, which are secreted from the pituitary gland. Initially, LacdiNAc was thought to be restricted in vertebrates to a limited number of glycoproteins and glycolipids, such as glycoprotein hormones, although it is frequently present on glycoproteins and glycolipids in invertebrates (Manzella et al. 1996). In vertebrates, the more commonly present as a type II blood core carbohydrate structure than LacdiNAc, (Manzella et al. 1996). Various other molecules, such as glycodelins in the amnion of fetal tissue and α -dystroglycan in the extracellular matrix (Breloy et al. 2012), have recently been found to carry LacdiNAc on N- or O-glycans.

Mouse ES cells show high expression of the LacdiNAc structure on their surface (Sasaki et al. 2011). The expression of LacdiNAc decreases during differentiation in mouse ES cells cultured without LIF. LacdiNAc expression is also reduced in mouse EpiS cell-like cells produced from mouse ES cells in EpiS cell culture conditions including activin A and FGF2 and in human iPS cells which are at developmentally more advanced stage than mouse ES cells. Thus, LacdiNAc is highly expressed in naïve state pluripotent stem cells, while it is expressed at a lower level in primed pluripotent stem cells (Fig. 4.3b) (Sasaki et al. 2011).

To date, nine types of β 1,4-*N*-acetylgalactosaminyltransferase (β 1,4GalNAc-T) have been cloned and their substrate specificities identified. Of these, β 1,4GalNAc-T 3 and 4 show activity in the synthesis of LacdiNAc structures (Gotoh et al. 2004; Sato et al. 2003). Both recombinant enzymes have very similar substrate specificities but show very different distributions in human tissues. $\beta 4 GalNAc-T3$ mRNA has been detected in the stomach, colon and testis, whereas $\beta 4 GalNAc-T4$ transcripts are predominantly detected in the brain, ovary, and mammary glands. In mouse ES cells, RNAi of β 4GalNAc-T3 reduces the amount of LacdiNAc structures on the cell surface (Sasaki et al. 2011) and, therefore, β4GalNAc-T3 is considered to be the principal contributor to synthesis of the LacdiNAc structure. By comparison to mouse ES cells, expression of $\beta 4 GalNAc-T3$ is lower in mouse EpiS cell-like cells and human iPS cells, reflecting the reduced expression of LacdiNAc on their cell surfaces. $\beta 4 GalNAc-T3$ is expressed highly in naïve state pluripotent stem cells, but at a lower level in primed pluripotent stem cells. The role of β4GalNAc-T 4 remains under investigation.

LIFR and gp130 Localize on Lipid Rafts/Caveolae and Transmit the LIF/STAT3 Signal

Lipid rafts are defined as microdomains within the lipid bilayer of cellular membranes. They are small, heterogeneous and dynamically changeable structures enriched in glycosphingolipids, sphingomyelin and cholesterol, and subsets of transmembrane or glycosylphosphatidylinisotolanchored proteins (Lingwood and Simons 2010). Lipid rafts are considered to be essential in cellular signaling processes because many signaling molecules, receptors and Src family kinases are assembled there. Biochemically, lipid rafts resist extraction in cold detergent and, therefore, they are described as detergent-resistant membrane fractions.

During the process of LIF binding, LIFR recruits the membrane protein gp130 to form a heterodimer (Hirai et al. 2011) (Fig. 4.3b). Heterodimerization triggers activation of associated JAK tyrosine kinases and then phosphorylation of gp130; these events result in the activation of STAT3. In mouse ES cells and embryonic neural precursor cells, gp130 and LIFR localize to one particular type of lipid raft termed a caveola (Lee et al. 2010; Sasaki et al. 2011; Yanagisawa et al. 2004). This localization is required for strong LIF/STAT3 signaling in mouse ES cells (Lee et al. 2010; Sasaki et al. 2011). However, the role of caveolin-1, a component of rafts/caveolae, in localization of the receptors is still ambiguous, although both LIFR and gp130 have caveolin binding motifs: YGTVVFAGY (amino acids 318-326) and FTFTTPKF (amino acids 604-611), respectively (Couet et al. 1997; Sasaki et al. 2011). In addition to caveolin-1, other raft/caveolar components, such as RTPF/cavin-1, caveolin-2, and glycosylphosphatidylinositolanchored proteins might stabilize localization of the receptors.

LIFR and gp130 with LacdiNAc Structures Are Localized on Lipid Rafts/Caveolae

The LacdiNAc carbohydrate structure GalNAc β 1-4GlcNAc along with β 1,4GalNAc-T 3, which synthesizes LacdiNAc (Sato et al. 2003), are highly expressed in naïve state pluripotent stem cells, such as mouse ES cells (Fig. 4.3b) (Sasaki et al. 2011). Protein analyses showed that both LIFR and gp130 are modified by LacdiNAc. Both LIFR and gp130 are localized on lipid rafts and co-immunoprecipitated by caveolin-1, a marker for and component of lipid rafts/caveolae. LIFR and gp130 also show co-localization with caveolin-1 on the surface of mouse ES cells indicating that receptor molecules carrying LacdiNAc are localized on lipid rafts/caveolae (Sasaki et al. 2011). It has been reported that gp130 has nine N-glycosylated sites among the 11 potential N-glycosylation sites in its extracellular domain (Moritz et al. 2001). In mouse embryonic neural precursor cells, N-glycans on gp130 are required for heterodimerization with LIFR (Yanagisawa and Yu 2009). Potential O-glycosylation sites are also found in both gp130 and LIFR (Sasaki et al. 2011). However, it has not yet been determined whether there are LacdiNAc structures on N- or O-glycans that modify gp130 and LIFR on mouse ES cells.

LacdiNAc Structure Is Essential for Self-Renewal in Naïve State Pluripotent Stem Cells (Mouse Embryonic Stem Cells) Through LIF/STAT3 Signaling

Mouse ES cells were subjected to RNAi using short hairpin RNAs targeted against various glycosyltransferase genes and self-renewal of the knockdown cells was evaluated by their alkaline phosphatase activities. This analysis showed that the cell surface glycan LacdiNAc is required for self-renewal of naïve state pluripotent stem cells (Sasaki et al. 2011). Knockdown (KD) of β 4GalNAc-T3, which synthesizes LacdiNAc, results in reduced expression of cell surface LacdiNAc, a lower proportion of alkaline phosphatase positive colonies, and a reduction in Oct3/4, Nanog and Sox2, which are markers of the undifferentiated state. In addition, the rate of proliferation of $\beta 4 GalNAc$ -T3-KD cells is significantly decreased. Thus, LacdiNAc has a range of functions in undifferentiated mouse ES cells (naïve state pluripotent stem cells) and is required for self-renewal and proliferation of the cells.

LIF/STAT3 signaling is markedly reduced in β 4*GalNAc-T3*-KD cells, although BMP4/Smad and FGF4/ERK signaling is not affected (Sasaki et al. 2011). Therefore, the reduction in LIF/

STAT3 signaling causes the reduction in the selfrenewal ability of the cells. However, no significant differences are detectable in cell surface expression of LIFR and gp130 between control and $\beta 4 GalNAc-T3$ -KD cells. In contrast, in β 4GalNAc-T3-KD cells, LIFR and gp130 are dispersed from the lipid rafts/caveolae resulting in a reduced rate of LIFR and gp130 heterodimerization in response to LIF. LacdiNAc on LIFR and gp130 is decreased in β 4GalNAc-T3-KD cells, and the interaction and colocalization of caveolin-1 with LIFR and gp130 is also reduced. Overall, these findings demonstrate that LacdiNAc is involved in LIF/STAT3 signaling in mouse ES cells through regulation of the localization of LIFR and gp130 to rafts/caveolae and through controling their heterodimerization (Fig. 4.3b). That is, LacdiNAc structures on LIFR and gp130 are required for the localization of these receptors to the rafts/caveolae by interaction with components of the caveolin-1 complex and are necessary to maintain a sufficiently strong LIFR/STAT3 signal for maintenance of self-renewal.

Reduced Expression of LacdiNAc Structures in Primed State Pluripotent Stem Cells (Mouse Epistem-Like Cells and Human Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells) Causes the Inert State of the LIF/STAT Signal

LIF/STAT3 signaling does not function in either mouse EpiS cells or human ES cells, (Brons et al. 2007; Daheron et al. 2004), although it maintains self-renewal in mouse ES cells (Fig. 4.3a). As mentioned above, expression of LacdiNAc is reduced in primed state pluripotent stem cells such as mouse EpiS cell-like cells and human iPS cells compared to naïve state mouse ES cells (Sasaki et al. 2011). LacdiNAc structures are a key factor in determining the responsiveness to LIF/STAT3 signaling and explain the different responses of primed and naïve state pluripotent stem cells (Fig. 4.3b).

Mouse EpiS cell-like cells are similar to mouse EpiS cells and human ES/iPS cells in showing a very weak response to LIF (Sasaki et al. 2011). Expression of LacdiNAc on LIFR and gp130 is markedly lower in mouse EpiS cell-like cells and human iPS cells than mouse ES cells. Consequently the raft/caveolar localization of LIFR and gp130 is very weak in mouse EpiS cell-like cells and human iPS cells, which are primed state pluripotent stem cells. Based on these observations, the following molecular mechanism for the weak response to LIF in primed state pluripotent stem cells is proposed: LIFR and gp130 do not localize in rafts/caveolae due to the low level of LacdiNAc and, in turn, this decrease in localization causes a weak transduction of the LIF/STAT3 signal (Fig. 4.3b).

LacdiNAc Structures Are Required for the Induction of Naïve State Pluripotent Stem Cells (Mouse Embryonic Stem Cells)

Both LIF/STAT3 signaling (Bao et al. 2009; Yang et al. 2010) and LacdiNAc expression (Sasaki et al. 2011) contribute to reversion from the primed state to the naïve state.

Stable β 4GalNAc-T3KD EpiS cell-like cells were produced from stable β 4GalNAc-T3KD ES cells (Sasaki et al. 2011). Mouse EpiS cell-like cells can be induced to revert to mouse ES celllike cells under defined culture conditions (Hanna et al. 2010; Zhou et al. 2010). The rate of reversion in mouse EpiS cell-like cells derived from stable β 4GalNAc-T3KD ES cells is markedly lower than in control cells, indicating that upregulation of LacdiNAc is required for reversion from the primed state to the naïve state (Sasaki et al. 2011).

Thus, one of the important factors in the differential response of naïve and primed state pluripotent cells to LIF is the level of LacdiNAc structures on LIFR and gp130, and the expression of LacdiNAc is required for the induction and maintenance of the naïve state in pluripotent stem cells (Fig. 4.3b).

References

- Adewumi O, Aflatoonian B, Ahrlund-Richter L, Amit M, Andrews PW, Beighton G et al (2007) Characterization of human embryonic stem cell lines by the International Stem Cell Initiative. Nat Biotechnol 25:803–816
- Bao S, Tang F, Li X, Hayashi K, Gillich A, Lao K, Surani MA (2009) Epigenetic reversion of post-implantation epiblast to pluripotent embryonic stem cells. Nature 461:1292–1295
- Boeuf H, Hauss C, Graeve FD, Baran N, Kedinger C (1997) Leukemia inhibitory factor-dependent transcriptional activation in embryonic stem cells. J Cell Biol 138:1207–1217
- Breloy I, Sote S, Ottis P, Bonar D, Grahn A, Hanisch FG (2012) O-linked LacdiNAc-modified glycans in extracellular matrix glycoproteins are specifically phosphorylated at the subterminal GlcNAc. J Biol Chem 287:18275–18286
- Brons IG, Smithers LE, Trotter MW, Rugg-Gunn P, Sun B, de Sousa C, Lopes SM, Howlett SK, Clarkson A, Ahrlund-Richter L, Pedersen RA, Vallier L (2007) Derivation of pluripotent epiblast stem cells from mammalian embryos. Nature 448:191–195
- Chou YF, Chen HH, Eijpe M, Yabuuchi A, Chenoweth JG, Tesar P, Lu J, McKay RD, Geijsen N (2008) The growth factor environment defines distinct pluripotent ground states in novel blastocyst-derived stem cells. Cell 135:449–461
- Couet J, Li S, Okamoto T, Ikezu T, Lisanti MP (1997) Identification of peptide and protein ligands for the caveolin-scaffolding domain. Implications for the interaction of caveolin with caveolae-associated proteins. J Biol Chem 272:6525–6533
- Daheron L, Opitz SL, Zaehres H, Lensch MW, Andrews PW, Itskovitz-Eldor J, Daley GQ (2004) LIF/STAT3 signaling fails to maintain self-renewal of human embryonic stem cells. Stem Cells 22:770–778
- Gotoh M, Sato T, Kiyohara K, Kameyama A, Kikuchi N, Kwon YD, Ishizuka Y, Iwai T, Nakanishi H, Narimatsu H (2004) Molecular cloning and characterization of beta1,4-*N*-acetylgalactosaminyltransferases IV synthesizing N, N'-diacetyllactosediamine. FEBS Lett 562:134–140
- Hanna J, Cheng AW, Saha K, Kim J, Lengner CJ, Soldner F, Cassady JP, Muffat J, Carey BW, Jaenisch R (2010) Human embryonic stem cells with biological and epigenetic characteristics similar to those of mouse ESCs. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 107:9222–9227
- Hirai H, Karian P, Kikyo N (2011) Regulation of embryonic stem cell self-renewal and pluripotency by leukaemia inhibitory factor. Biochem J 438:11–23
- James D, Levine AJ, Besser D, Hemmati-Brivanlou A (2005) TGFbeta/activin/nodal signaling is necessary for the maintenance of pluripotency in human embryonic stem cells. Development 132:1273–1282
- Kaji H, Yamauchi Y, Takahashi N, Isobe T (2006) Mass spectrometric identification of N-linked glycopeptides

using lectin-mediated affinity capture and glycosylation site-specific stable isotope tagging. Nat Protoc 1:3019–3027

- Kraushaar DC, Yamaguchi Y, Wang L (2010) Heparan sulfate is required for embryonic stem cells to exit from self-renewal. J Biol Chem 285:5907–5916
- Lanner F, Lee KL, Sohl M, Holmborn K, Yang H, Wilbertz J, Poellinger L, Rossant J, Farnebo F (2010) Heparan sulfation-dependent fibroblast growth factor signaling maintains embryonic stem cells primed for differentiation in a heterogeneous state. Stem Cells 28:191–200
- Lee MY, Ryu JM, Lee SH, Park JH, Han HJ (2010) Lipid rafts play an important role for maintenance of embryonic stem cell self-renewal. J Lipid Res 51:2082–2089
- Lingwood D, Simons K (2010) Lipid rafts as a membraneorganizing principle. Science 327:46–50
- Manzella SM, Hooper LV, Baenziger JU (1996) Oligosaccharides containing beta 1,4-linked N-acetylgalactosamine, a paradigm for protein-specific glycosylation. J Biol Chem 271:12117–12120
- Moritz RL, Hall NE, Connolly LM, Simpson RJ (2001) Determination of the disulfide structure and *N*-glycosylation sites of the extracellular domain of the human signal transducer gp130. J Biol Chem 276:8244–8253
- Nishihara S (2010) Glycosyltransferases and transporters that contribute to proteoglycan synthesis in *Drosophila*: identification and functional analyses using the heritable and inducible RNAi system. Methods Enzymol 480:323–351
- Niwa H, Ogawa K, Shimosato D, Adachi K (2009) A parallel circuit of LIF signalling pathways maintains pluripotency of mouse ES cells. Nature 460:118–122
- Sasaki N, Okishio K, Ui-Tei K, Saigo K, Kinoshita-Toyoda A, Toyoda H, Nishimura T, Suda Y, Hayasaka M, Hanaoka K, Hitoshi S, Ikenaka K, Nishihara S (2008) Heparan sulfate regulates self-renewal and pluripotency of embryonic stem cells. J Biol Chem 283:3594–3606
- Sasaki N, Hirano T, Ichimiya T, Wakao M, Hirano K, Kinoshita-Toyoda A, Toyoda H, Suda Y, Nishihara S (2009) The 3'-phosphoadenosine 5'-phosphosulfate transporters, PAPST1 and 2, contribute to the maintenance and differentiation of mouse embryonic stem cells. PLoS One 4:e8262
- Sasaki N, Shinomi M, Hirano K, Ui-Tei K, Nishihara S (2011) LacdiNAc (GalNAcbeta1-4GlcNAc) contributes to self-renewal of mouse embryonic stem cells by regulating leukemia inhibitory factor/STAT3 signaling. Stem Cells 29:641–650

- Sato T, Gotoh M, Kiyohara K, Kameyama A, Kubota T, Kikuchi N, Ishizuka Y, Iwasaki H, Togayachi A, Kudo T, Ohkura T, Nakanishi H, Narimatsu H (2003) Molecular cloning and characterization of a novel human beta 1,4-N-acetylgalactosaminyltransferase, beta 4GalNAc-T3, responsible for the synthesis of N, N'-diacetyllactosediamine, GalNAc beta 1–4GlcNAc. J Biol Chem 278:47534–47544
- Sato N, Meijer L, Skaltsounis L, Greengard P, Brivanlou AH (2004) Maintenance of pluripotency in human and mouse embryonic stem cells through activation of Wnt signaling by a pharmacological GSK-3-specific inhibitor. Nat Med 10(55–63):1078–8956
- Tang C, Lee AS, Volkmer JP, Sahoo D, Nag D, Mosley AR, Inlay MA, Ardehali R, Chavez SL, Pera RR, Behr B, Wu JC, Weissman IL, Drukker M (2011) An antibody against SSEA-5 glycan on human pluripotent stem cells enables removal of teratoma-forming cells. Nat Biotechnol 29:829–834
- Wray J, Hartmann C (2012) WNTing embryonic stem cells. Trends Cell Biol 22:159–168
- Xu RH, Chen X, Li DS, Li R, Addicks GC, Glennon C, Zwaka TP, Thomson JA (2002) BMP4 initiates human embryonic stem cell differentiation to trophoblast. Nat Biotechnol 20:1261–1264
- Xu Y, Zhu X, Hahm HS, Wei W, Hao E, Hayek A, Ding S (2010) Revealing a core signaling regulatory mechanism for pluripotent stem cell survival and selfrenewal by small molecules. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 107(18):8129–8134
- Yanagisawa M, Yu RK (2009) N-Glycans modulate the activation of gp130 in mouse embryonic neural precursor cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 386:101–104
- Yanagisawa M, Nakamura K, Taga T (2004) Roles of lipid rafts in integrin-dependent adhesion a, 801–809, 13nd gp130 signalling pathway in mouse embryonic neural precursor cells. Genes Cells 9:9156–919597
- Yang J, Van Oosten AL, Theunissen TW, Guo G, Silva JC, Smith A (2010) Stat3 activation is limiting for reprogramming to ground state pluripotency. Cell Stem Cell 7:319–328
- Ying QL, Nichols J, Chambers I, Smith A (2003) BMP induction of Id proteins suppresses differentiation and sustains embryonic stem cell self-renewal in collaboration with STAT3. Cell 115:281–292
- Zhou H, Li W, Zhu S, Joo JY, Do JT, Xiong W, Kim JB, Zhang K, Scholer HR, Ding S (2010) Conversion of mouse epiblast stem cells to an earlier pluripotency state by small molecules. J Biol Chem 285:29676–29680